# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

vASIIINGTON, D.C. 20349

# FORM S-3

**REGISTRATION STATEMENT** 

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# Veritone, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 47-1161641 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

575 Anton Blvd., Suite 100 Costa Mesa, California 92626 (888) 507-1737

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive office)

Chad Steelberg Chief Executive Officer Veritone, Inc. 575 Anton Blvd., Suite 100 Costa Mesa, California 92626 (888) 507-1737

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

Jeffrey B. Coyne General Counsel and Secretary Veritone, Inc. 575 Anton Blvd., Suite 100 Costa Mesa, California 92626 (888) 507-1737 Michael A. Hedge Jason C. Dreibelbis K&L Gates LLP 1 Park Plaza, Twelfth Floor Irvine, California 92614 (949) 253-0900

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after this Registration Statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box:

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box:

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\Box$ 

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\Box$ 

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  $\Box$ 

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  $\Box$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, anon-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  $\Box$ 

Non-accelerated filer

Accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of Securities Act.  $\Box$ 

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		Proposed Maximum Aggregate	Proposed Maximum	
Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered(1)(2)	Offering Price Per Unit(2)(3)	Aggregate Offering Price(2)(3)	Amount of Registration Fee(3)
Common Stock, par value of \$0.001 per share	424,192	\$6.17	\$2,617,264.64	\$317.21

- (1)The Registrant is hereby registering for resale: (a) 195,727 shares of its common stock (the "PB Shares"), which represent a portion of the shares of common stock to be issued to one of the selling stockholders pursuant to the terms of that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 10, 2018, by and among the Registrant, Point Acquisition Corporation, a New York corporation and an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of the Registrant, S Media Limited, Inc., a New York corporation ("Performance Bridge"), and Stephen P. Smyk, the sole stockholder of Performance Bridge (the "PB Merger Agreement") based on the achievement by Performance Bridge of certain revenue milestones in its 2018 fiscal year; and (b) up to 228,465 shares of its common stock (the "Machine Box Additional Shares") that may be issued to certain of the selling stockholders pursuant to the terms of that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 31, 2018, by and among the Registrant, Project Magic Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Machine Box, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Machine Box"), and Aaron Edell, in his capacity as the representative of the stockholders of Machine Box (the "Machine Box Merger Agreement"), if Machine Box achieves certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement, assuming (i) the achievement of all such milestones and (ii) that the per share price used to calculate the number of Machine Box Additional Shares to be issued is \$4.94, which represents a 20% discount to the average of the high and low trading prices of the Registrant's common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on May 6, 2019. The PB Shares have been earned but have not been issued, and the Machine Box Additional Shares have not been earned and have not been issued. The actual number of Machine Box Additional Shares issued to certain of the selling stockholders, if any, could be materially more or less than 228,465 shares of common stock depending on (x) whether and to what extent the applicable future milestones are met and (y) the actual average weighted average trading price per share of the Registrant's common stock on The Nasdag Global Market at the time such Machine Box Additional Shares may be issued. This presentation is not intended to constitute an indication or prediction of whether any of the future milestones will be achieved or the future market price of the Registrant's common stock. The discount applied to the average of the high and low trading prices of the Registrant's common stock is solely for the purpose of helping to ensure that sufficient shares of the Registrant's common stock are registered for resale to provide for the entire amount of Machine Box Additional Shares that may become issuable.
- (2) Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, the shares being registered hereunder include an indeterminate number of shares of common stock as may be issuable with respect to the shares being registered hereunder as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.
- (3) Estimated solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(c) under the Securities Act, based upon the average of the high and low prices of the Registrant's common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on May 6, 2019.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The selling stockholders may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

**SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED MAY 9, 2019** 

PROSPECTUS



424,192 Shares of Common Stock

This prospectus relates to the possible resale from time to time of up to 424,192 shares of our common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, which are held by, or may be issued to, the selling stockholders identified in this prospectus. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of any shares offered by this prospectus.

The selling stockholders acquired or will acquire certain of these shares in connection with: (i) our acquisition of S Media Limited, Inc., a New York corporation, or Performance Bridge, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the PB Merger Agreement, dated August 10, 2018 and (ii) our acquisition of Machine Box, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or Machine Box, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the Machine Box Merger Agreement, dated August 31, 2018.

The number of shares of common stock being registered hereunder is comprised of: (i) 195,727 shares of our common stock, or the PB Shares, which represent a portion of the shares of common stock to be issued to one of the selling stockholders pursuant to the terms of the PB Merger Agreement based on the achievement by Performance Bridge of certain revenue milestones in its 2018 fiscal year; and (ii) up to 228,465 shares of our common stock, or the Machine Box Additional Shares, that may be issued to certain of the selling stockholders pursuant to the terms of the Machine Box Merger Agreement if Machine Box achieves certain technical development and integration milestones by September 6, 2019, assuming (a) the achievement of all such milestones and (b) that the per share price used to calculate the number of Machine Box Additional Shares to be issued is \$4.94, which represents a 20% discount to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on May 6, 2019. The shares of our common stock registered hereunder are in addition Box Merger Agreement, and are registered hereunder to compensate for an actual or potential shortfall in the number of shares previously registered compared with the number of shares that we have issued or may become obligated to issue in connection with those transactions.

The PB Shares have been earned but have not been issued, and the Machine Box Additional Shares have not been earned and have not been issued. The actual number of Machine Box Additional Shares issued to certain of the selling stockholders, if any, could be materially more or less than 228,465 shares of common stock depending on whether and to what extent the applicable future milestones are met and/or the actual average volume weighted average trading price per share of our common stock on The Nasdaq Global Market, or Nasdaq, at the time such milestones are achieved. This presentation is not intended to constitute an indication or prediction of whether any of the future milestones will be achieved or the future market price of our common stock. The discount applied to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock is solely for the purpose of helping to ensure that sufficient shares of our common stock are registered for resale to cover the entire amount of Machine Box Additional Shares that may become issuable.

The registration of shares of our common stock covered by this prospectus does not mean that the selling stockholders will offer or sell any of such shares of our common stock. The selling stockholders may resell or dispose of the shares of our common stock, or interests therein, at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of sale or at prices negotiated with purchasers, to or through one or more underwriters, dealers or agents, or through any other means described in this prospectus under "Plan of Distribution" beginning on page 17 of this prospectus. The selling stockholders will bear all commissions and discounts, if any, attributable to the sale or disposition of the shares of common stock, or interests therein. We will bear all costs, expenses and fees in connection with the registration of the shares of common stock.

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol "VERI." On May 8, 2019, the last reported sale price of our common stock on Nasdaq was \$6.19 per share.

We are an "emerging growth company" under the federal securities laws and, as such, are subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.

Investing in these securities involves a high degree of risk. See "<u>Risk Factors</u>" on page 6 of this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein for a discussion of the factors you should carefully consider before deciding to invest in our securities.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is , 2019

#### **Table of Contents**

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

About This Prospectus	1
Prospectus Summary	2
The Offering	2
	5
<u>Risk Factors</u>	6
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	7
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	8
Dividend Policy	9
Selling Stockholders	10
Description of Capital Stock	12
Plan of Distribution	17
Legal Matters	19
Experts	19
Where You Can Find More Information	19
Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference	19

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus or any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We have not authorized any person to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, or any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you, and, if given or made, you must not rely upon the information or representations as having been authorized. This prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, and any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you, do not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. The information contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, and any free writing prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, or any free writing prospectus on any do the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. The information contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, and any free writing prospectus, any accompanying and the date set forth on the cover page and may not reflect subsequent changes in our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects even though this prospectus, any accompanying prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you, is delivered or securities are sold on a later date.

# ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of any shares offered by this prospectus. This prospectus does not contain all of the information included in the registration statement. Before making an investment decision, it is important for you to read and consider the information contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, and any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you, together with the additional information described under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information" and "Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference" below.

This prospectus includes, and incorporates by reference, references to our trademarks, trade names and service marks, such as Veriton®, Veritone Platform<sup>TM</sup>, Veritone One<sup>TM</sup>, aiWARE<sup>TM</sup>, Conductor<sup>TM</sup>, Veritone Core<sup>TM</sup> and Veritone Digital Media Hub<sup>TM</sup>, which are protected under applicable intellectual property laws and are our property. This prospectus also contains, and incorporates by reference, references to trademarks, trade names and service marks of other companies, which are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this prospectus or any document incorporated by reference, may appear without the ®, TM or SM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the right of the applicable licensor to these trademarks, trade names and service marks. We do not intend our use or display of other parties' trademarks, trade names or service marks to imply, and such use or display should not be construed to imply, a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other parties.

Unless otherwise indicated herein, references in this prospectus to "Veritone," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Veritone, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with our consolidated subsidiaries.

#### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights certain information about this offering and selected information contained elsewhere in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus. This summary is not complete and does not contain all of the information that you should consider before deciding whether to invest in shares of our common stock. You should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the "Risk Factors" section contained in this prospectus and the other documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

#### Overview

We are a provider of artificial intelligence, or AI computing solutions. We have developed aiWARE<sup>TM</sup>, a proprietary AI operating system that integrates and orchestrates an open ecosystem of over 300 top performing cognitive engines, together with our suite of powerful applications, to reveal valuable multivariate insights from vast amounts of structured and unstructured data and conduct cognitive workflows based on these insights.

Our aiWARE platform incorporates proprietary technology to integrate and intelligently orchestrate a wide variety of cognitive engine capabilities to mimic human cognitive functions such as perception, prediction and problem solving in order to quickly, efficiently and cost effectively transform unstructured data into structured data. It stores the results in a time-correlated database, creating a rich, online, searchable index of the structured and unstructured data that users can use and analyze in near real-time through the platform's suite of general and industry-specific applications to drive business processes and insights.

Our platform is based on an open architecture that enables new cognitive engines and applications to be added quickly and efficiently, resulting in a future proof, scalable and evolving solution that can be easily leveraged for a broad range of industries that capture or use audio, video and other unstructured data including, without limitation, the media and entertainment, legal and compliance, government and other vertical markets. Our aiWARE platform is offered through a software-as-a-service, or SaaS, delivery model and can be deployed in a number of environments and configurations to meet customers' needs.

We also operate a full service advertising agency, which we acquired at the time we were founded in 2014. Our services include media planning and strategy, advertisement buying and placement, campaign messaging, clearance verification and attribution, and custom analytics. Our advertising business leverages our aiWARE platform to help our clients improve their advertising placements and maximize the return on their advertising spending using real-time ad verification and analytics, which we believe gives us a competitive advantage over other advertising agencies. Although we intend to focus on the development and growth of our aiWARE SaaS solutions, we plan to continue to invest in and grow our advertising business.

For additional information about our company, please refer to other documents we have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, as listed under the heading "Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference."

#### Acquisitions

#### Performance Bridge

On August 21, 2018, we completed our acquisition of S Media Limited, a New York corporation, or Performance Bridge, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the PB Merger Agreement, dated as of August 10, 2018, by and among the Company, Point Acquisition Corporation, a New York corporation and an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Performance Bridge and Stephen P. Smyk, the sole stockholder of Performance Bridge. We acquired Performance Bridge through a merger of Point Acquisition Corporation with and into Performance Bridge, with Performance Bridge surviving the merger as our indirect, wholly owned subsidiary. Pursuant to the PB Merger Agreement, we paid initial consideration of \$5.2 million, comprised of \$1.2 million paid in cash and the issuance of 349,072 shares of our common stock, valued at \$3.9 million based on our closing stock price on August 21, 2018. We subsequently issued to the sole former Performance Bridge stockholder an additional 6,482 shares of our common stock in January 2019 based on the final determination of Performance Bridge's net working capital. The PB Merger Agreement also provides for contingent earnout payments if Performance Bridge achieved certain revenue milestones in its 2018 fiscal year. We have determined that Performance Bridge achieved such revenue milestones in full. Accordingly, the sole former Performance Bridge stockholder is entitled to receive additional consideration of \$3.9 million, comprised of \$0.9 million paid to him in cash in April 2019 and 574,231 shares of our common stock to be issued to him, valued at \$3.0 million based on our closing stock price on March 28, 2019. A portion of the initial consideration, including 34,335 shares of our common stock, was deposited into a thirdparty escrow account to partially secure the indemnification obligations of the Performance Bridge stockholder under the PB Merger Agreement.

#### Machine Box

On September 6, 2018, we completed our acquisition of Machine Box, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or Machine Box, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the Machine Box Merger Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2018, by and among the Company, Project Magic Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Machine Box, and Aaron Edell, in his capacity as the representative of the stockholders of Machine Box. We acquired Machine Box through a merger of Project Magic Acquisition Corporation with and into Machine Box, with Machine Box surviving the merger as our wholly owned subsidiary. Pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement, we paid initial consideration of \$1.5 million, comprised of \$0.4 million paid in cash and the issuance of a total of 128,300 shares of our common stock, valued at \$1.1 million based on our closing stock price on September 6, 2018. The Machine Box Merger Agreement also provides for contingent payments of up to an additional \$3.0 million if Machine Box achieves certain technical development and integration milestones during the first 12 months following the closing date. We have determined that Machine Box has achieved the technical development and integration milestones required to be completed as of March 6, 2019, and, as a result, the former Machine Box stockholders became entitled to receive an aggregate of \$0.2 million in cash and an aggregate of 135,583 shares of our common stock, valued at \$0.9 million based on our closing stock price on March 6, 2019. In March 2019, we paid the former Machine Box stockholders an aggregate of \$160,000 in cash and issued to them an aggregate of 108,469 shares of our common stock. We withheld a portion of the initial consideration and the first contingent payment, including 54,095 shares of our common stock, to partially secure the indemnification obligations of the Machine Box stockholders under the Machine Box Merger Agreement. The additional contingent consideration, if paid, will be comprised of 20% cash and 80% shares of our common stock valued at the volume weighted average trading price of our common stock for the 20-trading day period ended two trading days prior to the date on which the applicable payment of contingent consideration is made.

Pursuant to the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement, we agreed to file a registration statement on FornS-3 with the SEC to register the resale of the shares of our common stock issued or to be issued thereunder. The registration statement of which this prospectus is a part has been filed to satisfy these obligations. The shares of our common stock registered hereunder are in addition to shares of our common stock that were previously registered in connection with the transactions contemplated by the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement, and are registered hereunder to compensate for an actual or potential shortfall in the number of shares previously registered compared with the number of shares that we have issued or may become obligated to issue in connection with those transactions. We have also agreed with the selling stockholders to keep the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which all of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus have been sold and (ii) the date on which the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus become eligible for resale without the need for current public information pursuant to any section of Rule 144 (or any similar provision then in effect) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act.

#### Voting Agreement

In connection with the investment by Acacia Research Corporation, or Acacia, in our securities in August 2016, we entered into a voting agreement, or the Voting Agreement, with Acacia and certain stockholders, who we refer to as the Holders, including entities affiliated with Chad Steelberg, our Chief Executive Officer, and Ryan Steelberg, our President. Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, our board of directors consists of a total of nine authorized directors. Until May 17, 2019, or the Voting Period, Acacia has the right to nominate three directors to our board of directors, and the Holders, voting together as a group, have the right to nominate six directors to our board of directors. Messrs. Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg currently beneficially own the majority of the voting Period, Acacia has the lolders, and accordingly, are able to designate all six of the Holders' director nominees. During the Voting Period, Acacia and the Holders have agreed to vote all of their shares to elect the nine directors nominated by them pursuant to the Voting Agreement. In addition, each of Acacia and the Holders has the right to appoint three designees to attend and participate in the meetings of our board of directors in a non-voting capacity.

#### **Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company**

We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, and are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements and may be relieved of other significant requirements that are otherwise generally applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. We may take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We will cease to be an emerging growth company on December 31, 2022, or earlier if we have more than \$1.07 billion in annual revenue, we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC, or we issue more than \$1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period. We have taken advantage of certain reduced reporting burdens in the registration statement of which this prospectus

is a part, as well as in documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement, and we may elect to take advantage of some or all of the reduced reporting requirements in our future filings. As a result, the information contained herein and that we provide to our stockholders in the future may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock.

#### **Company Information**

We were incorporated as a Delaware corporation on June 13, 2014 under the name Veritone Delaware, Inc., and changed our name to Veritone, Inc. on July 15, 2014. Our corporate headquarters are located at 575 Anton Boulevard, Suite 100, Costa Mesa, California 92626. Our telephone number is (888) 507-1737. Our principal website address is www.veritone.com. The information contained on our website is not a part of, and should not be construed as being incorporated by reference into, this prospectus.

#### THE OFFERING

Shares of common stock offered by selling stockholders <sup>(1)</sup>	424,192
Use of Proceeds	We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of our common stock offered by the selling stockholders under this prospectus. See "Use of Proceeds" on page 8 of this prospectus.
Risk Factors	See "Risk Factors" on page 6 of this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein for a discussion of factors you should consider carefully before investing in our common stock.
Nasdaq Symbol	"VERI"

(1) The number of shares of common stock being registered hereunder is comprised of: (i) 195,727 PB Shares, which represent a portion of the shares of common stock to be issued to one of the selling stockholders based on the achievement by Performance Bridge of certain revenue milestones in its 2018 fiscal year; and (ii) 228,465 Machine Box Additional Shares that may be issued to certain of the selling stockholders pursuant to the terms of the Machine Box Merger Agreement, based on the achievement by Machine Box of certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement during the first 12 months following the closing date, assuming (a) the achievement of all such milestones and (b) that the per share price used to calculate the number of Machine Box Additional Shares to be issued is \$4.94, which represents a 20% discount to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on May 6, 2019. This presentation is not intended to constitute an indication or prediction of whether any of the future milestones will be achieved or the future market price of our common stock. The discount applied to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock are registered hereunder are in addition to shares of our common stock that were previously registered in connection with the transactions contemplated by the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement, and are registered hereunder to compensate for an actual or potential shortfall in the number of shares previously registered compared with the number of shares previously registered compared with the number of shares that we have issued or may become obligated to issue in connection with those transactions.

<sup>5</sup> 

# **RISK FACTORS**

Investing in our common stock involves significant risks. Before deciding whether to invest in our common stock, you should consider carefully the risks, uncertainties and assumptions described in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement, including the risk factors set forth in our filings with the SEC that are incorporated by reference herein and therein, including the risk factors in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as they may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other reports we file with the SEC in the future. There may be other unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive, regulatory or other factors that could have material adverse effects on our future results. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, business prospects, financial condition or results of operations could be seriously harmed. Please also read carefully the section below entitled "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

# CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains or incorporates forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements reflect management's beliefs and assumptions. In addition, these forward-looking statements reflect management's current views with respect to future events or our financial performance, and involve certain known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those identified below, which may cause our or our industry's actual or future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements or from historical results. We intend the forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Satements preceded by, followed by, or that include the words "may," "will," "could," "would," "should," "believe," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "predict," "potential" or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which we cannot predict with accuracy and some of which we might not even anticipate. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions at the time made, we can give no assurance that the expectations will be achieved. Future events and actual results, financial and otherwise, may differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We have no duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date of this prospectus or to conform them to actual results, new information, future events or otherwise.

The factors described under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement, and in any documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement, and other factors could cause our or our industry's future results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated or expressed in any of our forward-looking statements. We operate in a continually changing business environment, and new risk factors emerge from time to time. Other unknown or unpredictable factors also could have material adverse effects on our future results, performance or achievements. We cannot assure you that projected results or events will be achieved or will occur.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of the shares of our common stock offered by this prospectus. The selling stockholders will receive all of the proceeds from any sale of the shares of our common stock offered by this prospectus. For information about the selling stockholders, see "Selling Stockholders" on page 10 of this prospectus.

The selling stockholders will pay any underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses incurred by the selling stockholders for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the selling stockholders in disposing of the shares. We will bear all other costs, fees and expenses incurred in effecting the registration of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus, including all registration and filing fees and fees and expenses of our counsel and accountants.

# **DIVIDEND POLICY**

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business. Therefore, we do not currently expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, general business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant. Our ability to pay dividends may also be restricted by the terms of any future credit agreement or any future debt or preferred equity securities of ours or of our subsidiaries.

# SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

This prospectus relates to the sale or other disposition of up to 424,192 shares of our common stock that are or may become issuable to certain of the selling stockholders (or, as applicable, their respective pledgees, distributees, transferees, or any of their respective successors in interest) pursuant to the terms of the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement. See the section entitled "Prospectus Summary—Acquisitions" beginning on page 2 of this prospectus.

The table below sets forth, to our knowledge, information as of the date of this prospectus regarding the beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock held by the selling stockholders. The second column in the table lists the number of shares and percentage of common stock beneficially owned by the selling stockholders as of April 30, 2019, which includes shares of our common stock that we previously registered in connection with the transactions contemplated by the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement, or the Previously Registered Shares. The third column in the table lists the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be sold or otherwise disposed of by the selling stockholders pursuant to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. For certain selling stockholders, the second and third columns in the table include shares of common stock potentially issuable to such selling stockholders in the event that Machine Box achieves certain technical development and integration milestones and (b) that the per share price used to calculate the number of Machine Box Additional Shares that may be issued is \$4.94, which represents a 20% discount to the average of the high and low trading prices of our common stock beneficially owned by the selling stockholders upon completion of the offering contemplated hereby, assuming the sale of all shares of common stock beneficially owned by the selling stockholders upon completion of the offering contemplated hereby, assuming the sale of all ornon stock beneficially owned by the selling stockholders may sell or otherwise dispose of some, all or none of their shares.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, beneficial ownership includes any shares of common stock as to which a selling stockholder has sole or shared voting power or investment power and any shares of common stock that the selling stockholder has the right to acquire within 60 days of April 30, 2019. The percent of beneficial ownership for the selling stockholders is based on 20,342,572 shares of our stock outstanding as of April 30, 2019. Except as described below, to our knowledge, none of the selling stockholders has been an officer or director of ours or of our affiliates within the past three years or had any material relationship with us or our affiliates within the past three years. Our knowledge is based on information provided by the selling stockholders through questionnaires we distributed in connection with the filing of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. The selling stockholders have contractual rights to require us to file the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

The shares of common stock being covered hereby may be sold or otherwise disposed of from time to time during the period the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part remains effective, by or for the account of the selling stockholders. After the date of effectiveness, the selling stockholders may have sold or transferred, in transactions covered by this prospectus or in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, some or all of their common stock. See the section entitled "Plan of Distribution" beginning on page 17 of this prospectus.

Information about the selling stockholders may change over time. Any changed information will be set forth in an amendment to the registration statement or supplement to this prospectus, to the extent required by law.

	Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned Prior to Offering(1)		Number of Shares of Common Stock Being	Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned Upon Completion of this Offering <sup>(2)</sup>	
Name of Selling Stockholder	Number	Percentage	Offered(1)	Number	Percentage
Stephen P. Smyk <sup>(3)</sup>	929,785	4.4%	195,727	734,058	3.5%
Samuel J. Sanzeri <sup>(4)</sup>	16,239	*	7,625	8,614	*
Jeannette Boudreau <sup>(5)</sup>	9,807	*	3,809	5,998	*
David Hernandez-Prieto <sup>(6)</sup>	179,570	*	69,802	109,768	*
Mathew Ryer <sup>(7)</sup>	179,570	*	69,802	109,768	*
Aaron Edell <sup>(8)</sup>	179,570	*	69,802	109,768	*
Robert B. McCartha <sup>(9)</sup>	19,622	*	7,625	11,997	*

Less than 1%

(1) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by each selling stockholder prior to the offering includes (i) the Previously Registered Shares, which consist of shares of our common stock that we have issued, or that we may become

obligated to issue, in connection with the transactions contemplated by the PB Merger Agreement and the Machine Box Merger Agreement; and (ii) the additional number of shares of common stock that have been registered under the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part to compensate for an actual or potential shortfall in the number of Previously Registered Shares compared with the number of shares that we have issued or are or may become obligated to issue in connection with those transactions (which additional shares are reflected as the number of shares of common stock being offered by each selling stockholder).

- (2) Assumes that the selling stockholders will sell all shares of common stock registered under the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, but will not sell any of the Previously Registered Shares held by such selling stockholders.
- (3) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 34,335 shares of common stock held in escrow to partially secure Mr. Smyk's indemnification obligations pursuant to the PB Merger Agreement and (ii) 574,231 shares of common stock issuable to Mr. Smyk pursuant to the earnout provisions of the PB Merger Agreement, of which 378,504 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. Smyk's address is 2504 Foxwood Lane, Vestal, NY 13850. Mr. Smyk was formerly the Chief Executive Officer and a director of Performance Bridge, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and is currently the Senior Vice President, Podcasts and Influencer Marketing, of the Company.
- (4) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 1,806 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 10,812 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Mr. Sanzeri if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 3,187 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. Sanzeri's address is P.O. Box 82, San Mateo, CA 94401.
- (5) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 902 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 5,404 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Ms. Boudreau if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 1,595 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Ms. Boudreau's address is 841 Spring Dr., Mill Valley, CA 94941.
- (6) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 16,527 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 98,950 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Mr. Hernandez-Prieto if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 29,148 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. Hernandez-Prieto's address is 19 Chancellors Wharf, Crisp Road, W6 9RT, London, United Kingdom. Mr. Hernandez-Prieto was formerly the Chief Scientific Officer and a director of Machine Box, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and is currently a Principal Engineer with Veritone UK Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
- (7) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 16,527 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 98,950 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Mr. Ryer if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 29,148 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. Ryer's address is 11 Tavistock Tower, Russell Place, London, SE16 7PQ, United Kingdom. Mr. Ryer was formerly the Chief Technology Officer and Secretary of Machine Box, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and is currently a Principal Engineer with Veritone UK Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
- (8) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 16,527 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 98,950 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Mr. Edell if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 29,148 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. Edell's address is 2276 Heritage Hills Drive, Pleasant Hill, CA 94523. Mr. Edell was formerly the Chief Executive Officer of Machine Box, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and is currently a Senior Director of Business Development and Ecosystem with the Company.
- (9) The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned includes (i) 1,806 shares of common stock retained by us to partially secure certain of the selling stockholders' indemnification obligations pursuant to the Machine Box Merger Agreement and (ii) up to 10,812 shares of common stock potentially issuable to Mr. McCartha if certain technical development and integration milestones set forth in the Machine Box Merger Agreement are achieved, of which 3,187 shares are Previously Registered Shares. Mr. McCartha's address is 10385 SW Cormorant Dr., Beaverton, OR 97007.

#### DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description of our capital stock and certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws are summaries and are qualified by reference to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws. Copies of these documents are filed with the SEC as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

#### Authorized Capital Stock

We are currently authorized to issue 75,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, and 1,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value \$0.001 per share. As of March 31, 2019, we had 20,197,188 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding. As of March 31, 2019, there were 50 holders of record of our common stock, which do not include beneficial owners of common stock whose shares are held in street name by brokers or other nominees.

#### Common Stock

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. We have not provided for cumulative voting for the election of directors in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Our amended and restated bylaws provide for a classified board of directors consisting of three classes of approximately equal size, each serving staggered three-year terms. Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the amounts that our board of directors may determine. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and it is unlikely that any cash dividends will be declared or paid on any common stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we plan to retain our cash for use in the operation of our business. Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to conversion, redemption or sinking fund provisions. If we become subject to a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the holders of our common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.

#### **Preferred Stock**

We currently have 1,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock authorized, none of which are outstanding. Under the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized to direct us to issue such shares of preferred stock in one or more series without stockholder approval. Our board of directors has the discretion to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock. The purpose of authorizing our board of directors to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to eliminate delays associated with a stockholder vote on specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions, future financings and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, a majority of our outstanding voting stock. We have no present plans to issue any shares of preferred stock.

#### Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock

The authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and our preferred stock are available for future issuance without stockholder approval, subject to any limitations imposed by the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules. These additional shares may be used for a variety of corporate finance transactions, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred stock could make more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

#### Options

As of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 10,072,029 shares of our common stock, with a weighted average exercise price of \$14.66 per share, under our equity compensation plans. Each of such options has a term of 10 years from the grant date.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Warrants

As of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,297,151 shares of common stock, with a weighted average exercise price of \$13.58 per share.

#### **Restricted Stock Units**

As of March 31, 2019, we had outstanding 99,678 restricted stock units, each representing the right to receive one share of common stock upon vesting.

#### **Demand Registration Rights**

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2014, as amended, or the Rights Agreement, entered into by our company and certain stockholders, the holders of at least 30% of the following held by the holders of our then-outstanding Series B preferred stock: (i) shares of our common stock issued or issuable upon conversion of any of our securities by the parties to such agreement, and (ii) common stock issued as a dividend or other distribution with respect to the shares in (i), can request that we file up to two registration statements registering all or a portion of their registrable shares in a registration statement that would have an aggregate offering price of not less than \$5 million. Under specified circumstances, we have the right to defer filing of a requested registration statement. These registration rights are subject to additional conditions and limitations, including the right of the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such registration under certain circumstances. We are required to pay all expenses relating to any demand registration by the holder upon the earlier of (i) such time as such holder holds less than one percent of our common stock and Rule 144 or another similar exemption under the Securities Act is available for the sale of such holder's shares without limitation during a three-month period without registration and (ii) May 2022, the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering.

#### Form S-3 Registration Rights

Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, the holders of at least 20% of the following held by the holders of our then-outstanding Series A andA-1 preferred stock, and the holders of at least 20% of the following held by the holders of our then-outstanding Series B preferred stock: (i) shares of our common stock issued or issuable upon conversion of any of our securities by the parties to such agreement, and (ii) common stock issued as a dividend or other distribution with respect to the shares in (i), have the right to demand that we file additional registration statements, including a shelf registration statement, registering all or a portion of their registrable shares pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-3 that would have an aggregate offering price, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, that exceeds \$5 million. Under specified circumstances, we also have the right to defer filing of a requested registration statement. These registration under certain circumstances, and to our right to define to effect such registration if two such registrations have been effected within the twelve-month period prior to a request for such registration. We are required to pay all expenses relating to any S-3 registration rights described above will expire for each holder upon the earlier of (i) such time as such holder holds less than one percent of our common stock and Rule 144 or another similar exemption under the Securities Act is available for the sale of such holder's shares without limitation during a three-month period without registration and (ii) May 2022, the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering.

#### **Piggyback Registration Rights**

Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, whenever we propose to file a registration statement under the Securities Act, other than with respect to a registration related to employee benefit or similar plans, or corporate reorganizations or other transactions under Rule 145 under the Securities Act, the holders of registrable (i) shares of our common stock issued or issuable upon conversion of any of our securities by the parties to such agreement, and (ii) common stock issued as a dividend or other distribution with respect to the shares in (i), are entitled to notice of the registration and have the right to include their registrable securities in such registration. The underwriters of any underwritten offering will have the right to limit the number of shares having registration rights to be included in the registration statement.

We are required to pay all expenses relating to any piggyback registration by the holders of registrable securities under the Rights Agreement, subject to certain limitations. The registration rights contained in the Rights Agreement will expire for each holder



upon the earlier of (i) such time as such holder holds less than one percent of our common stock and Rule 144 or another similar exemption under the Securities Act is available for the sale of such holder's shares without limitation during a three-month period without registration and (ii) May 2022, the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering.

#### Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws include a number of provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of our company, as well as changes in our board of directors or management team, including the following:

Board of Directors Vacancies. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws authorize only our board of directors to fill vacant directorships, including newly created seats. In addition, the number of directors constituting our board of directors is only permitted to be set by a resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These provisions prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our board of directors and then gaining control of our board of directors by filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees. This makes it more difficult to change the composition of our board of directors and will promote continuity of management.

*Classified Board.* Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that our board of directors shall be classified into three classes of directors, each of which hold office for a three-year term. In addition, directors may only be removed from our board of directors for cause. The existence of a classified board could delay a potential acquirer from obtaining majority control of our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential acquirer.

Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our stockholders may not take action by written consent, but may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders. As a result, a holder controlling a majority of our capital stock would not be able to amend our amended and restated bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of our stockholders called in accordance with our amended and restated bylaws. Our amended and restated bylaws further provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board of directors, thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting. These provisions might delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our amended and restated bylaws provide advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder's notice. These provisions might preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders if the proper procedures are not followed. We expect that these provisions may also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

*No Cumulative Voting.* The Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, provides that stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation's certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Directors Removed Only for Cause. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that no member of our board of directors may be removed from office by our stockholders except for cause and, in addition to any other vote required by law, upon the approval of not less than two-thirds of the total voting power of all of our outstanding voting stock then entitled to vote in the election of directors.

*Exclusive Venue.* Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us; (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or agents to us or our stockholders; (iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws; or (iv) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws; or (iv) any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies' certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any action, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of inapplicable or unenforceable in such action.

Each of the foregoing provisions will make it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our board of directors as well as for another party to obtain control of our company by replacing our board of directors. Since our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change the control of our company.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its policies and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of our company. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy rights. However, these provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control of our company or our management. As a consequence, these provisions also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts.

#### Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with the following exceptions:

- before such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon closing of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned by (1) persons who are directors and also officers and (2) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
- on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines "business combination" to include the following:

- · any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
- any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;
- subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;
- any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or
- the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loss, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an "interested stockholder" as an entity or person who, together with the person's affiliates and associates, beneficially owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

#### Limitation of Liability and Indemnification

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law, which prohibits our amended and restated certificate of incorporation from limiting the liability of our directors for the following:

any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

- acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
- · unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions; or
- any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that if Delaware law is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director, then the liability of our directors will be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, as so amended. This limitation of liability does not apply to liabilities arising under the federal securities laws and does not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws also provide that we shall indemnify our employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by law. Our amended and restated bylaws also permit us to secure insurance on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his or her actions in this capacity, regardless of whether we would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under the DGCL. We have obtained directors' and officers' liability insurance.

We have entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, in addition to indemnification provided for in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws. These agreements, among other things, provide for indemnification of our directors and executive officers for expenses, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by this person in any action or proceeding arising out of this person's services as a director or executive officer or at our request. We believe that these provisions in our amended and restated bylaws and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and executive officers.

The above description of the indemnification provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to these documents, each of which is filed as an exhibit to this registration statement to which this prospectus forms a part.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and our stockholders. A stockholder's investment may be harmed to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable. There is no pending litigation or proceeding naming any of our directors or officers as to which indemnification is being sought, nor are we aware of any pending or threatened litigation that may result in claims for indemnification by any director or officer.

#### Listing

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "VERI."

### Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling stockholders may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of their shares of common stock on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the common stock is traded or in private transactions. These dispositions may be at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to the prevailing market price, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or at negotiated prices.

The selling stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when disposing of shares or interests therein:

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;
- block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent, but may position and resell a portion of the block as principal to
  facilitate the transaction;
- purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its own account;
- an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
- privately negotiated transactions;
- short sales effected after the date the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part is declared effective by the SEC;
- through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
- through agreements between broker-dealers and the selling stockholders to sell a specified number of such shares at a stipulated price per share;
- a combination of any such methods of sale; and
- any other method permitted by applicable law.

The selling stockholders may, from time to time, pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the shares of common stock owned by them and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the shares of common stock, from time to time, under this prospectus, or under an amendment to this prospectus under Rule 424(b) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act amending the list of selling stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as selling stockholders under this prospectus. The selling stockholders also may transfer the shares of common stock in other circumstances, in which case the pledgees, transferees or other successors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.

In connection with the sale of our common stock or interests therein, the selling stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with brokerdealers or other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the common stock in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The selling stockholders may also sell shares of our common stock short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these securities. The selling stockholders may also enter into options or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or the creation of one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to each such broker-dealer or other financial institution of shares offered by this prospectus, which shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The aggregate proceeds to the selling stockholders from the sale of the common stock offered by them will be the purchase price of the common stock less discounts or commissions, if any. Each of the selling stockholders reserves the right to accept and, together with its agents from time to time, to reject, in whole or in part, any proposed purchase of common stock to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

The selling stockholders also may resell all or a portion of the shares of common stock in open market transactions in reliance upon Rule 144 under the Securities Act, provided that they meet the criteria and conform to the requirements of that rule.

The selling stockholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that participate in the sale of the common stock or interests therein may be "underwriters" within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. Any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of the shares may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Selling stockholders who are "underwriters" within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.



To the extent required, the shares of our common stock to be sold, the names of the selling stockholders, the respective purchase prices and public offering prices, the names of any agents, dealers or underwriters, and any applicable commissions or discounts with respect to a particular offer will be set forth in an accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement that includes this prospectus.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the common stock may be sold in these jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the common stock may not be sold unless it has been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption from registration or qualification requirements is available and is complied with.

We have advised the selling stockholders that the anti-manipulation rules of Regulation M under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of shares in the market and to the activities of the selling stockholders and their affiliates. In addition, to the extent applicable we will make copies of this prospectus (as it may be supplemented or amended from time to time) available to the selling stockholders for the purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The selling stockholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the shares of common stock against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

We have agreed with the selling stockholders to keep the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which all of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus have been sold and (ii) the date on which the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus become eligible for resale without restriction and without the need for current public information pursuant to any section of Rule 144 (or any similar provision then in effect) under the Securities Act.

## LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the securities offered by this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement thereto will be passed upon for us by K&L Gates LLP, Irvine, California. Additional legal matters may be passed upon for us or any underwriters, dealers or agents, by counsel that we name in the applicable prospectus supplement.

## EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement have been so incorporated by reference in reliance upon the report of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement have been so incorporated by reference in reliance upon the report of Marcum LLP, independent registered public accountants, upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement do not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and its exhibits and schedules in accordance with SEC rules and regulations. For further information with respect to us and the securities being offered hereby, you should read the registration statement, including its exhibits and schedules. Statements contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement, including documents that we have incorporated by reference, as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and, with respect to any contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement or any other such document, each such statements. You may obtain copies of the registration statement and its exhibits via the SEC's EDGAR database or our website, or at the offices of the SEC, where they may be examined without charge at the Public Reference Room, at the address listed below.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the Exchange Act. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

We also make these documents available on our website at www.veritone.com. Our website and the information contained or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement, and you should not consider it part of this prospectus or any accompanying prospectus supplement.

#### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" in this prospectus certain of the information we file with the SEC. This means we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document that has been filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede information contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below that we have previously filed with the SEC:

- our Annual Report on Form 10-K and Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 18, 2019 and April 29, 2019, respectively;
- our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on May 9, 2019;
- the description of our common stock contained in our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 001-38093) filed with SEC on May 11, 2017, including any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating such description.

We also incorporate by reference into this prospectus additional documents that we may file with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act prior to the completion or termination of the offering of the securities described in this prospectus, including all such documents we may file with the SEC after the date of the initial registration statement and prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement, but excluding any information deemed furnished and not filed with the SEC. Any

statements contained in a previously filed document incorporated by reference into this prospectus is deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus, or in a subsequently filed document also incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes that statement. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus.

We will furnish without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, on written or oral request, a copy of any or all of the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including exhibits to these documents. You should direct any requests for documents to Veritone, Inc., 575 Anton Boulevard, Suite 100, Costa Mesa, California 92626; telephone number: (888) 507-1737. You may also access the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus through our website at www.veritone.com. Except for the specific incorporated documents listed above, no information available on or through our website shall be deemed to be incorporated in this prospectus or the registration statement of which it forms a part.



424,192 Shares of Common Stock

PROSPECTUS

, 2019

#### PART II

#### INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

Set forth below are estimates of the fees and expenses payable by the registrant in connection with the registration of the offered securities. The selling stockholders will not bear any portion of such expenses. All the amounts shown are estimates, except for the SEC registration fee.

SEC Registration Fee	\$ 317.21
Legal Fees and Expenses	\$10,000.00
Accounting Fees and Expenses	\$10,000.00
Miscellaneous Expenses	\$ 5,000.00
Total Expenses:	\$25,317.21
-	

#### Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 102 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, permits a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of directors of a corporation to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except where the director breached his or her duty of loyalty, failed to act in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, authorized the payment of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of Delaware corporate law or obtained an improper personal benefit. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that none of our directors shall be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any provision of law imposing such liability, except to the extent that the DGCL prohibits the elimination or limitation of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary duty.

Section 145 of the DGCL provides that a corporation has the power to indemnify a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or a person serving at the request of the corporation for another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise in related capacities against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with an action, suit or proceeding to which he or she was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, ending or completed action, suit or proceeding by reason of such position, if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, in any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful, except that, in the case of actions brought by or in the right of the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or other adjudicating court determines that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all of the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnify or such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify each person who was or is a party or threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of us) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer, or, while a director or officer, is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at our request as a director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (all such persons being referred to as an indemnitee), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys) fees), liabilities, losses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if such indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, he or she had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify any indemnitee who was or is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of us to procure a judgment in our favor by reason of the fact that the indemnitee is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer, or, while a director or officer, is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at our request as a director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, and any appeal therefrom, if the indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, except that no indemnification shall be made with respect to any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to us, unless a court determines that, despite such adjudication but in view of all of the circumstances, he or she is entitled to indemnification of such expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the

extent that any indemnitee has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, he or she will be indemnified by us against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred in connection therewith. Expenses must be advanced to an indemnitee under certain circumstances.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify our directors and officers for some expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or officer in any action or proceeding arising out of his or her service as one of our directors or officers, or any of our subsidiaries or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request.

We maintain a general liability insurance policy that covers certain liabilities of directors and officers of our corporation arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in their capacities as directors or officers.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

#### Item 16. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this registration statement and are incorporated herein by reference.

Exhibit <u>No.</u>	Description of Exhibit
3.1	Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2017).
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2017).
4.1	Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing the shares of the Registrant's common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-216726) filed on April 28, 2017).
4.2	Investor Rights Agreement dated July 15, 2014 among the Registrant and certain of its stockholders, together with Amendment No. 1 thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-216726) filed on March 15, 2017).
4.3	Voting Agreement dated August 15, 2016 between the Registrant and certain of its stockholders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-216726) filed on March 15, 2017).
5.1*	Opinion of K&L Gates LLP, counsel to the Registrant.
23.1*	Consent of Marcum LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
23.2*	Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
23.3*	Consent of K&L Gates LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1*	Powers of Attorney (included on the signature pages to this Registration Statement).

\* Filed herewith.

#### Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(a) To file during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent posteffective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement;

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(i), (a)(ii) and (a)(iii) of this section do not apply if the information required to be included in a posteffective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

(b) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(d) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(i) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in this registration statement; and

(ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date;

(e) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;

(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

(f) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the

registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(g) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(h) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b) (1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(i) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Costa Mesa, State of California on May 9, 2019.

VERITONE, INC.

By: /s/ Chad Steelberg

Chad Steelberg, Chief Executive Officer

# POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Jeffrey Coyne and Peter Collins and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments, including post-effective amendments, to this registration statement, and to sign any registration statement for the same offering covered by this registration statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, increasing the number of securities for which registration is sought, and all post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith, making such changes in this registration statement as such attorney-in-fact and agent so acting deem appropriate, with the SEC, granting untosaid attorney-in-fact and agent, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done with respect to the offering of securities contemplated by this registration statement, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agent or any of them, or his, her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Registration Statement onForm S-3 has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Chad Steelberg Chad Steelberg	Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive Officer)	May 9, 2019
/s/ Ryan Steelberg Ryan Steelberg	President and Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ Peter F. Collins Peter F. Collins	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	May 9, 2019
/s/ Nathaniel L. Checketts Nathaniel L. Checketts	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ Jeff P. Gehl Jeff P. Gehl	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ G. Louis Graziadio, III G. Louis Graziadio, III	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ Paul A. Krieger Paul A. Krieger	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ Knute P. Kurtz Knute P. Kurtz	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ <i>Nayaki R. Nayyar</i> Nayaki R. Nayyar	Director	May 9, 2019
/s/ Christopher J. Oates Christopher J. Oates	Director	May 9, 2019

# K&L GATES

K&L GATES LLP 1 PARK PLAZA TWELFTH FLOOR IRVINE, CA 92614 T +1 949 253 0900 F +1 949 253 0902 klgates.com

May 9, 2019

Veritone, Inc. 575 Anton Blvd., Suite 100 Costa Mesa, California 92626

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to Veritone, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), in connection with the preparation and filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the "<u>Registration Statement</u>") with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the '<u>Commission</u>") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "<u>Securities Act</u>"), relating to the resale from time to time by the selling stockholders identified in the prospectus constituting a part of the Registration Statement of an aggregate of 424,192 shares (the "<u>Milestone Shares</u>") of the Company's common stock, \$0.001 par value per share (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), that are or may become issuable to certain of the selling stockholders if certain milestones set forth in the transaction agreements pursuant to which the Company has agreed to issue such Milestone Shares (the "<u>Milestone Agreements</u>") are satisfied. This opinion letter is being furnished to you in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K.

You have requested our opinion as to the matters set forth below in connection with the Registration Statement. For purposes of rendering the opinions expressed below, we have examined the Registration Statement, the Company's Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Company's Amended and Restated Bylaws, and the Milestone Agreements. We have also made such investigations of law as we have deemed appropriate. We have examined and relied upon certificates of public officials and, as to certain matters of fact that are material to our opinions, we have also relied on a certificate of an officer of the Company. In rendering our opinion, we have made the assumptions that are customary in opinion letters of this kind. We have not verified any of these assumptions.

Further, we have assumed (i) the achievement of all applicable milestones set forth in the Milestone Agreements and (ii) the per share price used to calculate the number of Milestone Shares to be issued is \$4.94, which represents a 20% discount to the average of the high and low trading prices of the Common Stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on May 6, 2019.

The opinions expressed in this opinion letter are limited to the Delaware General Corporation Law (the 'DGCL''). We are not opining on, and we assume no responsibility for, the applicability to or effect on any of the matters covered herein of (a) any other laws; (b) the laws of any other jurisdiction; or (c) the laws of any county, municipality or other political subdivision or local governmental agency or authority.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and in reliance thereon, we are of the opinion that the Milestone Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the Milestone Agreements, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

We assume no obligation to update or supplement any of our opinions to reflect any changes of law or fact that may occur after the date hereof.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and to the reference to this firm in the Prospectus under the caption "Legal Matters." In giving our consent, we do not hereby admit that we are in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Yours truly,

/s/ K&L Gates LLP

K&L Gates LLP

# INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement of Veritone, Inc. onForm S-3 of our report dated March 9, 2018, with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Veritone, Inc. as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years then ended appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Veritone, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2017. We also consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Experts" in the Prospectus, which is part of this Registration Statement.

We were dismissed as auditors on May 18, 2018 and, accordingly, we have not performed any audit or review procedures with respect to any financial statements referred to, or appearing in, such Prospectus for any period after the date of our dismissal.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP Costa Mesa, CA May 9, 2019

# CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 18, 2019 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Veritone, Inc. included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, which are incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement. We consent to the incorporation by reference of the aforementioned report in this Registration Statement, and to the use of our name as it appears under the caption "Experts."

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Los Angeles, CA May 9, 2019